
  

City of Shoreacres 

  

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the 

City Council 
of the City of Shoreacres, Texas, will be held on 

December 11, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 
in the City Council Chambers on the first floor at City Hall, 601 Shore Acres Blvd., 

Shoreacres, Texas, at which time the following subjects will be discussed, to wit: 

+ 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL: Members Present and Absent 

2.0 PLEDGES OF ALLEGIANCE 

Texas Pledge: 

Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one and indivisible. 

3.0 SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

3.1 None. 

4.0 COUNCIL REPORTS & REQUESTS 

4.1 An opportunity for members of council to share community news. 

5.0 PUBLIC HEARINGS & PUBLIC COMMENTS 

5.1 Public Comments 

This is the opportunity for the public to address council or comment on items which appear on the agenda. Time is 

limited to five minutes per speaker. Comments are to be directed to the city council and dialogue with the audience is 

not permitted. Councilmembers are prohibited by law from participating in discussion or deliberation of items not 

specifically identified on this agenda. 

6.0 ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS 

6.1 City Manager’s Report Harrison 

6.2 Monthly Police Department Report. Harrison 

6.3 Monthly Public Works Department Report.Harrison 

7.0 BUSINESS 

7.1 Minutes from the November 13, 2023 meeting. 

Page 1 of 29



  

7.2 Ordinance 2023-12-01 relating to changes in the floodplain ordinance. Harrison 

7.3 Second regular meeting Jennings 

 

8.0 ADJOURNMENT 

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that the above Notice of Meeting of the governing body of the City 

of Shoreacres, Texas is a true and correct copy of said Notice and that I posted a copy of said Notice on the 

bulletin board at City Hall on December 8, 2023 at or before 6:00 p.m., at a place convenient and readily 

accessible to the general public at all times; to remain so posted continuously for at least 72 hours preceding the 

scheduled time of said Meeting. 

 

DATED THIS December 8, 2023. 

David Jennings 
David Jennings, Mayor 

The City Council of the City of Shoreacres reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any time during the course of this meeting to 

discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultations with Attorney), 551.072 

(Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations 

about Security Devices) and 551.086 (Economic Development). 

The City Council Chamber is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. 

Requests for accommodation or interpretive services must be made at least two (2) working days prior to 
the meeting. Please contact the City Office at 281.471.2244 or fax 281.471.8955 for additional information. 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that this Notice of Meeting was removed from the City Hall bulletin board at 

6:00 PM on December 12, 2023. 

BY: 

SHOREACRES, TEXAS 

Page 2 of 29



 

 

 

CASH POSITION DECEMBER 2023 

 

 

2023 Restricted Funds:  

Restricted Debt  $32,461.32  
Unused Wastewater Project Funds  $53,937.80  

Utility Deposit Fund  $93,125.11  

Road Repair Taxes Collected (TexPool)  $300,353.85 
Covid Grant Funds   $47,475.38 

Park Pavilion Improvements budgeted 2022  $29,873.14 
SETH Funds  $5,360.82 

Total  $562.587.42 
 

Unencumbered Funds:  

General Fund Checking $81,238.40 

Utility Checking $243,038.65  

Unencumbered Funds (Tex Pool) $654,886.93 

Total $979.163.94 

 

 

 

 

Page 3 of 29



   
Shoreacres Police Department 

602 Shore Acres Blvd., Shoreacres, Texas 77571 / 281.307.1950 / Fax: 281.471.8955  

 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 DATE: December 1, 2023 
 TO: City Council 
 FROM: Troy D. Harrison 
 RE: November 2023 Activity report 

 
Below are the listed calls for service during the month of November 2023: 
 
Nature Calls 
911 HANG UP         1 
ALARM BURGLAR         1 
ANIMAL CONTROL PROBLEM       2 
ASSIST BY LAW         11 
ASSIST CITIZEN         5 
CIVIL PROBLEM STANDBY       1 
CRIMINAL MISCHIEF        1 
DISABLED VEHICLE        5 
DISTURBANCE         6 
FLAGDOWN         2 
FOLLOW UP         3 
FRAUD          1 
HARASSMENT         1 
ID THEFT          1 
LOST MISSING RECOVERED ABDUCTD     1 
LOUD MUSIC NOISE        3 
MINOR ACCIDENT        2 
SUSPICIOUS CIRC PERSON VEHICLE     2 
TRAFFIC HAZ PROB DIRECT RELAT      2 
TRAFFIC STOP         57 
VIOLATION CITY ORDINANCE       10 
WARRANT SERVICE        1 
WELFARE CONCERN        2 
  
 
Total Calls:          121 
Total Citations:        64      
Total House Watches:           125 
San Jacinto College Patrols:       166 
HYC Patrols         166 

Page 4 of 29



Innovative Utility Operations

Houston, TX  77044

(832) 771-4246

PRODUCTION STATUS

Well #1, 3395 OPERATING WITH NO ISSUES WELL PRODUCING - 363 GPM

Well #2, 1577 OPERATING WITH NO ISSUES WELL PRODUCING - 100 GPM

Well #3, 4061 OPERATING WITH NO ISSUES WELL PRODUCING - 450 GPM

Lift Station #1 OPERATING WITH NO ISSUES

Lift Station #2 OPERATING WITH NO ISSUES

Lift Station #3 OPERATING WITH NO ISSUES

PRODUCTION SUMMARY

Call Type Quantity

Turn on Service 0

Disconnect 0

Leaks 8

Main Line Repair 3

Meter Repair 0

Plant repair 2

Service Call 25

Inspection 0

PRODUCTION UPDATES FOR

CITY OF SHOREACRES - NOVEMBER 2023

Page 5 of 29



PROJECTS IN PROGRESS

TASK % DONE            DUE DATE NOTES

ABNORMAL EXPENDITURES

ITEM(S) COMPANY       APPROVED BY NOTES

COMMENTS/QUESTIONS?

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

David Sutton
Owner
Innovative Operations, LLC.

Page 6 of 29



City of Shoreacres 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

 

Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the 

City Council 

The City of Shoreacres, Texas held on. 

Monday, November 13, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 

In the city council chambers on the 1st floor at City Hall, 601 Shore Acres Blvd, 

Shoreacres, Texas, at which time the following subjects will be discussed 

 

1.0 CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL: Members Present and Absent – Quorum 

1.1 Mayor Jennings, Mayor Pro-Tem McKown, Alderman Greeson, Alderman Bell 

Alderman Hoskins Absent was Alderwoman Ramos. 

 

2.0 PLEDGES OF ALLEGIANCE 

Texas Pledge:  

Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas, one state under God, one 

and indivisible. 

 

3.0  SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

3.1  None 

 

4.0  COUNCIL REPORTS & REQUESTS 

4.1  None 

 

5.0  PUBLIC HEARINGS & PUBLIC COMMENTS 

5.1 Public Comments 

George Perdue – 3622 Miramar, Shoreacres, TX 77571 – Request to add to the 

agenda of the next meeting discussion of the new parking lot added above Shell 

Beach.  General comments and recommendations of ways the city could spend 

their monies in a better way as well as why the city would break/change an 

ordinance that has been in place for years without any discussion.  Would 

recommend a group to be put together to assess this issue and come back to the 

Council with some recommendations. 

Robert Johnson – 3618 Miramar, Shoreacres, TX 77571 – Passed out photos 

taken of fisherman fishing late at night with spotlights shining into our yard, 

others are pics of trash left behind as well as 5-10 cars block the view of the water 

from out home.  Reiterate what George says as well.  Would like to see the 

parking lots marked for Gold Cart only this would ensure the ones used are 

actually residents of Bay Colony, Shoreacres, etc. 

 

 This is an opportunity for the public to address the council. Dialogue, 

deliberation, or discussion, with council members on items that are not on the 

agenda is prohibited by law. Time for each speaker is limited to five minutes. 

Page 7 of 29



6.0  ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS 

 6.1 City Manager’s Report - Harrison 

Cash position - see attached – advised notice the General Fund account low, 

however the taxes have not started to come in yet so the beginning of the year you 

will notice this account rise.  Mayor Jennings made the same comments and 

explained all of the property tax funds collected in the beginning of the year and 

we moved cash to the Texpool account to boost that which is the emergency 

reserve.  No questions and/or discussion. 

 

6.2 Monthly Police Department Report - Harrison 

Mr. Harrison advised they were recently made aware that there was a sex offender 

living in the city who had not registered with the city.  The County he came from 

was contacted and notified – they issued a warrant for his arrest and the warrant 

was attempted to be served without much disruption in the City.  This was not 

successful; however, Pasadena PD did arrest him, and he has since come into the 

Station to register for the city.  We now have 2 sex offenders living in our city.  

The month was typical – with citations being written.   

General discussion was held with questions from Mr. Greeson and Mr. Bell 

regarding the Death Investigation in the city.  Mr. Harrison advised he always 

notifies the mayor of any death in the city; this death was an elderly person who 

passed away of natural causes.  No other questions or discussion had. 

 

6.3 Monthly Public Works Report - Harrison 

Mr. Harrison advised the rain that we have been having has decreased the number 

of leaks we have had in the city.  The Meadowlawn water project is 96% 

complete, with the rain coming the remainder will need to wait.  There was 

believed to be a sewer line collapse in the 800 block of North Country Club as a 

new home is being built with issues of getting sewer to that location, we are still 

working on this.   Report Attached. 

General discussion and questions were held with Mr. Greeson asking about the 

sign at the front of the city.  Mr. Harrison advised the sign is ready, the hold-up is 

the weather at this time.  No other questions and/or discussion.   

   

7.0  BUSINESS 

 

7.1  Minutes from November 13, 2023, meeting - Goodman 

Mr. Greeson made a motion to with a second from Mr. McKown to review the 

minutes from October 9th and October 16th.  Mr. Greeson advised there were a 

few corrections that needed to be made regarding the misspelling of his name and 

the word Gold in the 2nd paragraph changed to Golf.  Mr. Greeson made a motion 

to accept the minutes as corrected with a second from Mr. McKown. 

 

7.2 Oath of Office for Diane Stokes, Municipal Court Clerk - Jennings 

Mayor Jennings introduced Diane Stokes as the new Municipal Court Clerk 

followed by her swearing in Oath of Office. 

 

Page 8 of 29



7.3 Ordinance 2023-11-01 Relating to water and sewer connection fees - Jennings 

Mr. Hoskins made a motion with a second from Mr. Greeson to discuss 

Ordinance 2023-11-01 relating to the Water and Sewer connection fees.  

Discussion was held on section B changing the pricing for the Water Tap fee on a 

new build increasing from the current fee of $750 to $1500 plus the cost of the 

meter.  Discussion was held on section C changing the sewer tap fee on new 

builds from $200 to $2750 if the connection is greater than 6” the cost will 

increase to $1000.  Discussion was held on section D deposits for Road Bore 

deposits from $750.00 to $5000 and reducing the timeframe to complete the work 

from 1 year to 6 months.  Mayor Jennings polled the council members with all 

being in agreement with the increase in pricing as presented as well as the 

reduction of time for the work to be completed.  The motion passed unanimously.   

 

 7.4 Ordinance 2023-11-02 Relating to activities allowed with a permit in parks Harrison 

Mr. Hoskins made a motion with a second from Mr. McKown to discuss 

Ordinance 2023-11-02 relating to activities allowed with a permit in parks.  

Mayor Jennings advised the changes were mainly language cleanup as per the 

attached document.  Discussion was held with Mr. Greeson asking if there needed 

to be signs put or are there sign up regarding the park hours.  Mr. Hoskins added 

that any changes in ordinances needed to be published in the newspaper.  Mr. Bell 

asked if any of these items pertained to the Pier, and it was explained that the Pier 

is NOT part of Miramar Park as it is leased out.  No other discussion the motion 

passed unanimously. 

 

 7.5 Second regular meeting 11-27-2023 – Jennings 

  None 

 

8.0 ADJOURNMENT Jennings 

 

A motion from Mr. Hoskins with a second from Mr. Greeson to adjourn the 

meeting.  Meeting adjourned at 6:42 pm 

  

I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that the above Notice of Meeting of the governing 

body of the City of Shoreacres, Texas is a true and correct copy of said Notice and that I posted a 

copy of said Notice on the bulletin board at City Hall on ., at a place convenient and readily 

accessible to the general public at all times; to remain so posted continuously for at least 72 

hours preceding the scheduled time of said Meeting.  

 

DATED THIS November 13, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9 of 29



             
         SHOREACRES, TEXAS 

By: David Jennings 
David Jennings – Mayor 
 

The City Council of the City of Shoreacres reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any time during the 
course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas Government Code Sections 
551.071 (Consultations with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations about 
Gifts and donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about Security Devices) and 551.086 
(Economic Development). 
 

 

The City Council Chamber is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces 

available. 

 

Requests for accommodation or interpretive services must be made at least two (2) working 

days prior to the meeting.  Please contact the City Office at 281-471-2244 or fax 281-471-

8955 for additional information. 

 

I, undersigned do hereby certify that this notice of Meeting was removed from the City Hall 

Bulletin Board at 6:00 pm on November 13, 2023.  

Page 10 of 29



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-12-01 
 

CITY OF SHOREACRES 
 
 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SHOREACRES, TEXAS, PERTAINING TO CHANGES IN 
CHAPTER 30 FLOODS;  FINDING COMPLIANCE WITH THE OPEN MEETINGS LAW; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE HEREOF. 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Shoreacres has determined that the current 
ordinance pertaining to floodplain management is insufficient to maximize the city’s 
rating in the Community Rating System for the National Flood Insurance Program;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHOREACRES, 
TEXAS THAT:  
 
Section 1. That the following changes to Chapter 30 –Floods be amended as follows:  
 

Chapter 30 FLOODS1 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 

Secs. 30-1—30-30. Reserved. 

ARTICLE II. FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION2 

DIVISION 1. STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION, FINDINGS OF FACT, PURPOSE AND 

METHODS 

Sec. 30-31. Statutory authorization. 

The Legislature of the State of Texas has in the Flood Control Insurance Act, Texas Water Code, Section 
16.315 delegated the responsibility of local governmental units to adopt regulations designed to minimize flood 
losses. Therefore, the City of Shoreacres, Texas, does ordain the provisions of this article.  

 
1Cross reference(s)—Buildings and building regulations, ch. 10; environment, ch. 22; planning, ch. 50; utilities, ch. 

66; vegetation, ch. 70; zoning, ch. 74; subdivisions, app. A.  

2Editor's note(s)—Ord. No. 07-04, adopted May 21, 2007, amended Art. II, which consisted of §§ 30-31—30-96, in 
its entirety to read as herein set out. Former Art. II pertained to similar subject matter and derived from Ord. 
No. 96-12, adopted Aug. 26, 1996.  

Page 11 of 29



 

 

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016) 

Sec. 30-32. Findings of fact. 

(1) The flood hazard areas of the City of Shoreacres are subject to periodic inundation, which results in loss of 
life and property, health and safety hazards, disruption of commerce and governmental services, and 
extraordinary public expenditures for flood protection and relief, all of which adversely affect the public 
health, safety and general welfare.  

(2) These flood losses are created by the cumulative effect of obstructions in floodplains which cause an 
increase in flood heights and velocities, and by the occupancy of flood hazard areas by uses vulnerable to 
floods and hazardous to other lands because they are inadequately elevated, floodproofed or otherwise 
protected from flood damage.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-33. Statement of purpose. 

It is the purpose of this article to promote the public health, safety and general welfare and to minimize 
public and private losses due to flood conditions in specific areas by provisions designed to:  

(1) Protect human life and health;  

(2) Minimize expenditure of public money for costly flood control projects;  

(3) Minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding and generally undertaken at 
the expense of the general public;  

(4) Minimize prolonged business interruptions;  

(5) Minimize damage to public facilities and utilities such as water and gas mains, electric, telephone and 
sewer lines, streets and bridges located in floodplains;  

(6) Help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and development of floodprone areas in 
such a manner as to minimize future flood blight areas; and  

(7) Ensure that potential buyers are notified that property is in a flood area.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-34. Methods of reducing flood losses. 

In order to accomplish its purposes, this article uses the following methods:  

(1) Restrict or prohibit uses that are dangerous to health, safety or property in times of flood, or cause 
excessive increases in flood heights or velocities;  

(2) Require that uses vulnerable to floods, including facilities which serve such uses, be protected against 
flood damage at the time of initial construction;  

(3) Control the alteration of natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural protective barriers, which 
are involved in the accommodation of floodwaters;  

(4) Control filling, grading, dredging and other development which may increase flood damage;  

(5) Prevent or regulate the construction of flood barriers which will unnaturally divert floodwaters or 
which may increase flood hazards to other lands.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Page 12 of 29



 

 

 

Sec. 30-35. Definitions. 

Unless specifically defined below, words or phrases used in this article shall be interpreted to give them the 
meaning they have in common usage and to give this article its most reasonable application.  

Alluvial fan flooding means flooding occurring on the surface of an alluvial fan or similar landform which 
originates at the apex and is characterized by high-velocity flows; active processes of erosion, sediment transport, 
and deposition; and unpredictable flow paths.  

Apex means a point on an alluvial fan or similar landform below which the flow path of the major stream that 
formed the fan becomes unpredictable and alluvial fan flooding can occur.  

Appurtenant structure means a structure which is on the same parcel of property as the principal structure to 
be insured and the use of which is incidental to the use of the principal structure.  

Area of future conditions flood hazard means the land area that would be inundated by the one-percent-
annual chance (100-year) flood based on future conditions hydrology.  

Area of shallow flooding means a designated AO, AH, AR/AO, AR/AH, or VO zone on a community's Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) with a one percent or greater annual chance of flooding to an average depth of one to 
three feet where a clearly defined channel does not exist, where the path of flooding is unpredictable and where 
velocity flow may be evident. Such flooding is characterized by ponding or sheet flow.  

Area of special flood hazard is the land in the floodplain within a community subject to a one percent or 
greater chance of flooding in any given year. The area may be designated as Zone A on the Flood Hazard Boundary 
Map (FHBM). After detailed rate making has been completed in preparation for publication of the FIRM, Zone A 
usually is refined into zones A, AO, AH, A1—30, AE, A99, AR, AR/A1—30, AR/AE, AR/AO, AR/AH, AR/A, VO, V1—30, 
VE or V.  

Base flood means the flood having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year.  

Base flood elevation (BFE) means, the elevation shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) and found in 
the accompanying Flood Insurance Study (FIS) for zones A, AE, AH, A1—A30, AR, V1—V30, or VE that indicates the 
water surface elevation resulting from the flood that has a one percent chance of equaling or exceeding that level 
in any given year. Also called the "Base Flood."  

Basement means any area of the building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all sides.  

Breakaway wall means a wall that is not part of the structural support of the building and is intended 
through its design and construction to collapse under specific lateral loading forces, without causing damage to the 
elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation system.  

Critical feature means an integral and readily identifiable part of a flood protection system, without which 
the flood protection provided by the entire system would be compromised.  

Design flood elevation (DFE) means, the elevation that includes a two-foot free-board above the base flood 
elevation established by FEMA. Also called minimum base flood elevation (see section 30-42).  

Development means any manmade change to improved and unimproved real estate, including but not 
limited to buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations 
or storage of equipment or materials.  

Elevated building means, for insurance purposes, a non-basement building, which has its lowest elevated 
floor raised above ground level by foundation walls, shear walls, posts, piers, pilings, or columns.  

Existing construction means for the purposes of determining rates, structures for which the "start of 
construction" commenced before the effective date of the FIRM or before January 1, 1975, for FIRMs effective 
before that date. "Existing construction" may also be referred to as "existing structures."  

Page 13 of 29



 

 

 

Existing manufactured home park or subdivision means a manufactured home park or subdivision for which 
the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at 
a minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of 
concrete pads) is completed before the effective date of the floodplain management regulations adopted by a 
community.  

Expansion to an existing manufactured home park or subdivision means the preparation of additional sites by 
the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including 
the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete 
pads).  

Flood or flooding means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete inundation of 
normally dry land areas from:  

(1) The overflow of inland or tidal waters.  

(2) The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.  

Flood elevation study means an examination, evaluation and determination of flood hazards and, if 
appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations, or an examination, evaluation and determination of 
mudslide (i.e., mudflow) and/or flood-related erosion hazards.  

Flood insurance rate map (FIRM) means an official map of a community, on which the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency has delineated both the special flood hazard areas and the risk premium zones applicable to 
the community.  

Flood insurance study (FIS): See "Flood elevation study."  

Floodplain or floodprone area means any land area susceptible to being inundated by water from any source 
(see definition of flooding).  

Floodplain management means the operation of an overall program of corrective and preventive measures 
for reducing flood damage, including but not limited to emergency preparedness plans, flood control works and 
floodplain management regulations.  

Floodplain management regulations means zoning ordinances, subdivision regulations, building codes, health 
regulations, special purpose ordinances (such as a floodplain ordinance, grading ordinance and erosion control 
ordinance) and other applications of police power. The term describes such state or local regulations, in any 
combination thereof, which provide standards for the purpose of flood damage prevention and reduction.  

Flood protection system means those physical structural works for which funds have been authorized, 
appropriated, and expended and which have been constructed specifically to modify flooding in order to reduce 
the extent of the area within a community subject to a "special flood hazard" and the extent of the depths of 
associated flooding. Such a system typically includes hurricane tidal barriers, dams, reservoirs, levees or dikes. 
These specialized flood-modifying works are those constructed in conformance with sound engineering standards.  

Floodproofing means any combination of structural and non-structural additions, changes, or adjustments to 
structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real estate or improved real property, water and sanitary 
facilities, structures and their contents.  

Flood surge hazard area (FSHA) means, areas that have flood surge hazards associated with wind driven 
waves, tidal surges and hurricane wave wash where higher construction standards and the control of fill and 
grading may reduce flood damage (see section 30-98). FSHA includes inland areas within the limit of moderate 
wave action (LiMWA).  

Floodway: See "Regulatory floodway."  

Free-board means, the additional elevation above the FEMA base flood elevation to reach the minimum base 
flood elevation required by the City of Shoreacres (see section 30-42).  

Page 14 of 29



 

 

 

Functionally dependent use means a use, which cannot perform its intended purpose unless it is located or 
carried out in close proximity to water. The term includes only docking facilities, port facilities that are necessary 
for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers, and ship building and ship repair facilities, but does not 
include long-term storage or related manufacturing facilities.  

Highest adjacent grade means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface prior to construction next 
to the proposed walls of a structure.  

Historic structure means any structure that is:  
(1) Listed individually in the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained by the Department of 

Interior) or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as meeting the requirements for 
individual listing on the National Register;  

(2) Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as contributing to the historical 
significance of a registered historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the Secretary to 
qualify as a registered historic district;  

(3) Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places in states with historic preservation programs 
which have been approved by the Secretary of the Interior; or  

(4) Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in communities with historic preservation 
programs that have been certified either:  

(a) By an approved state program as determined by the Secretary of the Interior or;  

(b) Directly by the Secretary of the Interior in states without approved programs.  

Increased cost of compliance (ICC) means coverage that provides payment of up to $30,000.00 to 
substantially damaged properties to help cover the cost of mitigation activities that will reduce the risk of future 
flood damage to a building if all of the following for the structure are met: 1. The structure is covered by an 
insurance policy through the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP); 2. The structure must have suffered flood 
damage on at least two occasions in a ten-year period ending on the day of the second loss; 3. The cost to repair 
the flood damage, on average, equals or exceeds 25 percent of the market value of the building at the time of each 
of the two flood losses, or cumulatively total 50 percent of the pre-flood market value (a value less than 50 percent 
for substantial damage does not qualify for ICC), as defined by the local floodplain ordinance, and: 4. In addition to 
the claim requesting ICC, the NFIP must have paid a previous qualifying claim.  

Levee means a manmade structure, usually an earthen embankment, designed and constructed in 
accordance with sound engineering practices to contain, control, or divert the flow of water so as to provide 
protection from temporary flooding.  

Levee system means a flood protection system which consists of a levee, or levees, and associated structures, 
such as closure and drainage devices, which are constructed and operated in accordance with sound engineering 
practices.  

Limit of moderate wave action (LiMWA) means, the inland limit of the area expected to receive 1.5-foot or 
greater breaking waves during the one-percent-annual-chance flood event.  

Lowest floor means the lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area (including basement). An unfinished or 
flood-resistant enclosure, usable solely for parking or vehicles, building access or storage in an area other than a 
basement area is not considered a building's lowest floor; provided that such enclosure is not built so as to render 
the structure in violation of the applicable non-elevation design requirement of Section 60.3 of the National Flood 
Insurance Program regulations.  

Manufactured home means a structure transportable in one or more sections, which is built on a permanent 
chassis and is designed for use with or without a permanent foundation when connected to the required utilities. 
The term "manufactured home" does not include a "recreational vehicle".  

Page 15 of 29



 

 

 

Manufactured home park or subdivision means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) of land divided into two or 
more manufactured home lots for rent or sale.  

Mean sea level means, for purposes of the National Flood Insurance Program, the National Geodetic Vertical 
Datum (NGVD) of 1929 or other datum, to which base flood elevations shown on a community's flood insurance 
rate map are referenced.  

Minimum base flood elevation means, the elevation that includes a two-foot free-board above the base flood 
elevation established by FEMA. Also called design flood elevation (see section 30-42).  

New construction means, for the purpose of determining insurance rates, structures for which the "start of 
construction" commenced on or after the effective date of an initial FIRM or after December 31, 1974, whichever 
is later, and includes any subsequent improvements to such structures. For floodplain management purposes, 
"new construction" means structures for which the "start of construction" commenced on or after the effective 
date of a floodplain management regulation adopted by a community and includes any subsequent improvements 
to such structures.  

New manufactured home park or subdivision means a manufactured home park or subdivision for which the 
construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including at a 
minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of 
concrete pads) is completed on or after the effective date of floodplain management regulations adopted by a 
community.  

Primary frontal dune means a continuous or nearly continuous mound or ridge of sand with relatively steep 
seaward and landward slopes immediately landward and adjacent to the beach and subject to erosion and 
overtopping from high tides and waves during major coastal storms. The inland limit of the primary frontal dune 
occurs at the point where there is a distinct change from a relatively steep slope to a relatively mild slope.  

Recreational vehicle means a vehicle which is: (i) built on a single chassis; (ii) 400 square feet or less when 
measured at the largest horizontal projections; (iii) designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light 
duty truck; and (iv) designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use.  

Regulatory floodway means the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that 
must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation 
more than a designated height.  

Repetitive loss means flood-related damage sustained by a structure on two separate occasions during a 10-
year period for which the cost of repairs at the time of each such event is over $1,000 or, on the average, equals or 
exceeds 25% of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred. 

Riverine means relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), stream, brook, etc.  

Sand dunes mean naturally occurring accumulations of sand in ridges or mounds landward of the beach.  

Special flood hazard area: See "Area of special flood hazard."  

Start of construction (for other than new construction or substantial improvements under the Coastal Barrier 
Resources Act (Pub. L. 97-348)), includes substantial improvement and means the date the building permit was 
issued, provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition placement, or 
other improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start means either the first placement of 
permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of slab or footings, the installation of piles, the 
construction of columns, or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the placement of a manufactured home 
on a foundation. Permanent construction does not include land preparation, such as clearing, grading and filling; 
nor does it include the installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include excavation for basement, 
footings, piers or foundations or the erection of temporary forms; nor does it include the installation on the 
property of accessory buildings, such as garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main 
structure. For a substantial improvement, the actual start of construction means the first alteration of any wall, 

Page 16 of 29



 

 

 

ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a building, whether or not that alteration affects the external dimensions 
of the building.  

Structure means, for floodplain management purposes, a walled and roofed building, including a gas or liquid 
storage tank, that is principally above ground, as well as a manufactured home.  

Substantial damage means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby the cost of restoring the 
structure to its before damaged condition would equal or exceed 50 percent of the market value of the structure 
before the damage occurred.  

Substantial improvement means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a 
structure, the cost of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the structure before "start of 
construction" of the improvement. This term includes structures which have incurred "substantial damage" or 
“repetitive loss”, regardless of the actual repair work performed. The term does not, however, include either: (1) 
Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or local health, sanitary, or safety 
code specifications which have been identified by the local code enforcement official and which are the minimum 
necessary to assure safe living conditions or (2) Any alteration of a "historic structure", provided that the alteration 
will not preclude the structure's continued designation as a "historic structure."  

Variance means a grant of relief by a community from the terms of a floodplain management regulation. (For 
full requirements see Section 60.6 of the National Flood Insurance Program regulations.)  

Violation means the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with the community's 
floodplain management regulations. A structure or other development without the elevation certificate, other 
certifications, or other evidence of compliance required in Section 60.3(b)(5), (c)(4), (c)(10), (d)(3), (e)(2), (e)(4), or 
(e)(5) is presumed to be in violation until such time as that documentation is provided.  

Water surface elevation means the height, in relation to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) of 
1929 (or other datum, where specified), of floods of various magnitudes and frequencies in the floodplains of 
coastal or riverine areas.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

Sec. 30-36. Lands to which this article applies. 

This article shall apply to all areas of special flood hazard within the jurisdiction of the City of Shoreacres.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-37. Basis for establishing the areas of special flood hazard. 

The areas of special flood hazard identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in the current 
scientific and engineering report entitled, "The Flood Insurance Study for Harris County and Incorporated Areas," 
dated January 6, 2017, with accompanying Flood Insurance Rate Maps and/or Flood Boundary-Floodway Maps 
(FIRM and/or FBFM) dated January 6, 2017 and any revisions thereto are hereby adopted by reference and 
declared to be a part of this article.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016) 

Sec. 30-38. Compliance. 

No structure or land shall hereafter be located, altered, or have its use changed without full compliance with 
the terms of this article and other applicable regulations.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Page 17 of 29



 

 

 

Sec. 30-39. Abrogation and greater restrictions. 

This article is not intended to repeal, abrogate, or impair any existing easements, covenants, or deed 
restrictions. However, where this article and another ordinance, easement, covenant, or deed restriction conflict 
or overlap, whichever imposes the more stringent restrictions shall prevail.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-40. Interpretation. 

In the interpretation and application of this article, all provisions shall be; (1) considered as minimum 
requirements; (2) liberally construed in favor of the governing body; and (3) deemed neither to limit nor repeal any 
other powers granted under State statutes.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-41. Warning and disclaimer of liability. 

The degree of flood protection required by this article is considered reasonable for regulatory purposes and 
is based on scientific and engineering considerations. On rare occasions greater floods can and will occur and flood 
heights may be increased by manmade or natural causes. This article does not imply that land outside the areas of 
special flood hazards or uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood damages. This article 
shall not create liability on the part of the community or any official or employee thereof for any flood damages 
that result from reliance on this article or any administrative decision lawfully made hereunder.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-42. Minimum base flood elevation—Design flood elevation. 

All structures shall be built to a minimum elevation of the FEMA base flood elevation plus a two-foot free-
board, also known as design flood elevation. Datum used shall be based on the most recent adjustment figures 
established by the Harris Galveston Coastal Subsidence District. Method of measurement shall be done in 
accordance with this article.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

Sec. 30-43. New and replaced electrical service equipment. 

On an existing structure, a newly installed electrical service disconnect, meter pan, meter socket, service 
tray, or load distribution center (breaker box) shall be installed at or above the design flood elevation or four feet 
above the highest floor. Exception: An existing load distribution center (breaker box) in a non-substantially 
damaged structure may be replaced in its pre-existing location without elevating to or above the design flood 
elevation or four feet above the highest floor.  

(Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016; Ord. No. 2016-229, 10-24-2016; Ord. No. 2022-03 , § 1, 2-14-2022) 

Sec. 30-44—30-65. Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. ADMINISTRATION 

Page 18 of 29



 

 

 

Sec. 30-66. Designation of the floodplain administrator. 

The city manager, or designee, is hereby appointed the floodplain administrator to administer and 
implement the provisions of this article and other appropriate sections of 44 CFR (Emergency Management and 
Assistance - National Flood Insurance Program Regulations) pertaining to floodplain management.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2009-46, 8-10-2009; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

Sec. 30-67. Duties and responsibilities of the floodplain administrator. 

Duties and responsibilities of the floodplain administrator shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  

(1) Maintain and hold open for public inspection all records pertaining to the provisions of this article.  

(2) Review permit application to determine whether to ensure that the proposed building site project, 
including the placement of manufactured homes, will be reasonably safe from flooding.  

(3) Review, approve or deny all applications for development permits required by adoption of this article.  

(4) Review permits for proposed development to assure that all necessary permits have been obtained 
from those federal, state or local governmental agencies (including Section 404 of the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334) from which prior approval is required.  

(5) Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location of the boundaries of the areas of special flood 
hazards (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped boundary and actual 
field conditions) the floodplain administrator shall make the necessary interpretation.  

(6) Notify, in riverine situations, adjacent communities and the state coordinating agency which is the 
Texas Water Development Board (TWDB) and also the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 
(TCEQ) and Harris County Flood Control District, prior to any alteration or relocation of a watercourse, 
and submit evidence of such notification to the Federal Emergency Management Agency.  

(7) Assure that the flood-carrying capacity within the altered or relocated portion of any watercourse is 
maintained.  

(8) When base flood elevation data has not been provided in accordance with section 30-37, the 
floodplain administrator shall obtain, review and reasonably utilize any base flood elevation data and 
floodway data available from a federal, state or other source, in order to administer the provisions of 
division 3 of this article.  

(9) When a regulatory floodway has not been designated, the floodplain administrator must require that 
no new construction, substantial improvements, or other development (including fill) shall be 
permitted within zones A1—30 and AE on the community's FIRM, unless it is demonstrated that the 
cumulative effect of the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated 
development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood more than one foot at any 
point within the community.  

(10) Under the provisions of 44 CFR Chapter 1, Section 65.12, of the National Flood Insurance Program 
regulations, a community may approve certain development in zones A1—30, AE, AH, on the 
community's FIRM which increases the water surface elevation of the base flood by more than one 
foot, provided that the community first completes all of the provisions required by Section 65.12.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016) 

Sec. 30-68. Establishment of development permit. 

A floodplain development permit shall be required to ensure conformance with the provisions of this article.  

Page 19 of 29



 

 

 

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-69. Permit procedures. 

(1) Application for a floodplain development permit shall be presented to the floodplain administrator on forms 
furnished by him/her and may include, but not be limited to, plans in duplicate drawn to scale showing the 
location, dimensions, and elevation of proposed landscape alterations, existing and proposed structures, 
including the placement of manufactured homes, and the location of the foregoing in relation to areas of 
special flood hazard. Additionally, the following information is required:  

(a) Elevation (in relation to mean sea level), of the lowest floor (including basement) of all new and 
substantially improved structures;  

(b) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any nonresidential structure shall be floodproofed;  

(c) A certificate from a registered professional engineer or architect that the nonresidential floodproofed 
structure shall meet the floodproofing criteria of subsection 30-92(2);  

(d) Description of the extent to which any watercourse or natural drainage will be altered or relocated as a 
result of proposed development;  

(e) Maintain a record of all such information in accordance with subsection 30-67(1);  

(2) Approval or denial of a floodplain development permit by the floodplain administrator shall be based on all 
of the provisions of this article and the following relevant factors:  

(a) The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage;  

(b) The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect of such 
damage on the individual owner;  

(c) The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others;  

(d) The compatibility of the proposed use with existing and anticipated development;  

(e) The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency vehicles;  

(f) The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions including maintenance 
and repair of streets and bridges, and public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and 
water systems;  

(g) The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and sediment transport of the floodwaters and 
the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site;  

(h) The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable;  

(i) The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, for the proposed 
use.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-70. Variance procedures. 

(1) The appeal board, as established by the community, shall hear and render judgment on requests for 
variances from the requirements of this article.  

(2) The appeal board shall hear and render judgment on an appeal only when it is alleged there is an error in any 
requirement, decision, or determination made by the floodplain administrator in the enforcement or 
administration of this article.  

Page 20 of 29



 

 

 

(3) Any person or persons aggrieved by the decision of the appeal board may appeal such decision in the courts 
of competent jurisdiction.  

(4) The floodplain administrator shall maintain a record of all actions involving an appeal and shall report 
variances to the Federal Emergency Management Agency upon request.  

(5) Variances may be issued for the reconstruction, rehabilitation or restoration of structures listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places or the State Inventory of Historic Places, without regard to the 
procedures set forth in the remainder of this article.  

(6) Variances may be issued for new construction and substantial improvements to be erected on a lot of one-
half acre or less in size contiguous to and surrounded by lots with existing structures constructed below the 
base flood level, providing the relevant factors in subsection 30-69(2) of this article have been fully 
considered. As the lot size increases beyond the one-half acre, the technical justification required for issuing 
the variance increases.  

(7) Upon consideration of the factors noted above and the intent of this article, the appeal board may attach 
such conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to further the purpose and objectives of 
this article (section 30-33).  

(8) Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood levels during the base 
flood discharge would result.  

(9) Variances may be issued for the repair or rehabilitation of historic structures upon a determination that the 
proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure's continued designation as a historic 
structure and the variance is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic character and design of the 
structure.  

(10) Prerequisites for granting variances:  

(a) Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum necessary, 
considering the flood hazard, to afford relief.  

(b) Variances shall only be issued upon: (i) showing a good and sufficient cause; (ii) a determination that 
failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional hardship to the applicant, and (iii) a 
determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, additional 
threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, create nuisances, cause fraud on or victimization 
of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances.  

(c) Any application to which a variance is granted shall be given written notice that the structure will be 
permitted to be built with the lowest floor elevation below the base flood elevation, and that the cost 
of flood insurance will be commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest 
floor elevation.  

(11) Variances may be issued by a community for new construction and substantial improvements and for other 
development necessary for the conduct of a functionally dependent use provided that (i) the criteria outlined 
in subsections 30-70(1)—(9) are met, and (ii) the structure or other development is protected by methods 
that minimize flood damages during the base flood and create no additional threats to public safety.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Secs. 30-71—30-90. Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION 

Page 21 of 29



 

 

 

Sec. 30-91. General standards. 

In all areas of special flood hazards the following provisions are required for all new construction and 
substantial improvements:  

(1) All new construction or substantial improvements shall be elevated on pilings and columns and 
designed (or modified) and adequately anchored to prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement of 
the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy. 
Water loading values used shall be those associated with the base flood. Wind loading values used shall 
be those required by applicable state or local building standards. A registered professional engineer or 
architect shall develop or review the structural design, specifications and plans for the construction, 
and shall certify that the design and methods of construction o be used are in accordance with 
accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions of this subsection.;  

(2) All new construction or substantial improvements shall be constructed by methods and practices that 
minimize flood damage;  

(3) All new construction or substantial improvements shall be constructed with materials resistant to flood 
damage;  

(4) All new construction or substantial improvements shall be constructed with electrical, heating, 
ventilation, plumbing, and air conditioning equipment and other service facilities that are designed 
and/or located above the design flood elevation so as to prevent water from entering or accumulating 
within the components during conditions of flooding;  

(5) All new and replacement water supply systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration 
of floodwaters into the system;  

(6) New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration 
of floodwaters into the system and discharge from the systems into floodwaters; and  

(7) On-site waste disposal systems shall be located to avoid impairment to them or contamination from 
them during flooding.  

(8) Prohibit the use of fill for structural support of buildings.  

(9) Prohibit the use of fill to raise the grade of any lot above the minimum required to achieve proper 
drainage.  

(10) In all areas of special flood hazards, require positive drainage paths to guide floodwaters away from 
the building site.  

(11) Enclosures below the base flood elevation are usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or 
storage. Owner(s) of new and/or substantially improved buildings will be required to sign a non-
conversion agreement that must be filed with the deed. Enclosures shall be subject to inspection at any 
time.  

(12) All new construction shall be located landward of the reach of mean high tide. 

(13) Prohibit manmade alteration of sand dunes and mangrove stands that increase potential flood 
damage. 

(Ord. No. 2016-226, 10-10-2016; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

Sec. 30-92. Specific standards. 

In all areas of special flood hazards where base flood elevation data has been provided as set forth in (i) 
section 30-70, (ii) subsection 30-67(8), or (iii) subsection 30-93(3), the following provisions are required:  

Page 22 of 29



 

 

 

(1) Residential construction. New construction and substantial improvement of any residential structure 
shall have the lowest horizontal structural member including basement and all attendant utilities, 
elevated to or above the base flood elevation plus a two-foot free-board (design flood elevation). The 
pile column foundation and the structure attached thereto must be anchored to resist floatation, 
collapse, and lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads acting simultaneously on all 
building components. Water loading values used shall be those associated with the base flood. Wind 
loading values used shall be those required by applicable state or local building standards.  A registered 
professional engineer or architect shall develop or review the structural design, specifications and 
plans for the construction, and shall certify that the design and methods of construction to be used are 
in accordance with accepted standards of practice for meeting the provisions of this section. 

(2) Nonresidential construction. New construction and substantial improvements of any commercial, 
industrial or other nonresidential structure shall either have the lowest horizontal structural member 
including basement and all attendant utilities elevated to or above the base flood elevation plus a two-
foot free-board (design flood elevation) or together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, be 
designed so that below the base flood level plus the two-foot free-board (design flood elevation), the 
structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with 
structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and 
effects of buoyancy. The pile column foundation and the structure attached thereto must be anchored 
to resist floatation, collapse, and lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads. A 
registered professional engineer or architect shall develop and/or review structural design, 
specifications, and plans for the construction, and shall certify that the design and methods of 
construction are in accordance with accepted standards of practice as outlined in this subsection. A 
record of such certification which includes the specific elevation (in relation to mean sea level) to which 
such structures are floodproofed shall be maintained by the floodplain administrator.  

(3) Provide that all new construction and substantial improvements shall have the space below the lowest 
horizontal structural member plus a two-foot free-board (design flood elevation) either free of 
obstruction or constructed with non-supporting breakaway walls, open wood latticework, or insect 
screening intended to collapse under wind and water loads without causing collapse, displacement, or 
other structural damage to the elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation system.  

For the purpose of this section, a breakaway wall shall have a design safe loading resistance of not less 
than ten and no more than 20 pounds per square foot. A registered engineer shall provide a breakaway 
wall certificate to certify this design. Use of breakaway walls which exceed a design safe loading 
resistance of 20 pounds per square foot (either by design or when so required by local or state codes) 
may be permitted only if a registered professional engineer or architect certifies that the designs 
proposed meet the following conditions:  

(i) Breakaway wall collapse shall result from a water load less than that which would occur during 
the base flood; and  

(ii) The elevated portion of the building and supporting foundation system shall not be subject to 
collapse, displacement, or other structural damage due to the effects of wind and water loads 
acting simultaneously on all building components (structural and nonstructural). Water loading 
values used shall be those associated with the base flood. Wind loading values used shall be 
those required by applicable state or local building standards. Such enclosed space shall be 
useable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or storage. Such space shall not be used for 
human habitation. 

(4) Enclosures. New construction and substantial improvements, with fully enclosed areas below the 
lowest floor that are usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage in an area other 
than a basement and are constructed with non-supporting breakaway walls consistent with subsection 
(3) and which are subject to flooding shall be designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood 
forces on exterior walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeting this 

Page 23 of 29



 

 

 

requirement must either be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect or meet or 
exceed the following minimum criteria:  

(a) A minimum of two openings on separate walls having a total net area of not less than one square 
inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided.  

(b) The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade.  

(c) Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or devices provided 
that they permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters.  

(d) Enclosures below the base flood elevation are usable solely for parking of vehicles, building 
access, or storage. Owner(s) of new and/or substantially improved buildings will be required to 
sign a non-conversion agreement that must be filed with the deed. Enclosures shall be subject to 
inspection at any time.  

(5) Manufactured homes. 

 (a) Require that all manufactured homes shall be installed using methods and practices which 
minimize flood damage. For the purposes of this requirement, the pile column foundation and 
the structure attached thereto must be anchored and elevated to resist floatation, collapse, and 
lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads. Methods of anchoring may include, 
but are not limited to, use of over-the-top or frame ties to ground anchors. This requirement is in 
addition to applicable State and local anchoring requirements for resisting wind forces.  

(b) Require that manufactured homes that are placed or substantially improved on sites (i) outside 
of a manufactured home park or subdivision, (ii) in a new manufactured home park or 
subdivision, (iii) in an expansion to an existing manufactured home park or subdivision, or (iv) in 
an existing manufactured home park or subdivision on which a manufactured home has incurred 
"substantial damage" as a result of a flood, be elevated on a permanent foundation of pilings and 
columns such that the lowest horizontal structural member of the manufactured home is 
elevated to or above the base flood elevation plus a two-foot free-board (design flood elevation) 
and the pile column foundation must be securely anchored to an adequately anchored 
foundation system to resist flotation, collapse, and lateral movement.  

(c) Require that manufactured homes be placed or substantially improved on sites in an existing 
manufactured home park or subdivision with zones A1—30, AH and AE on the community's FIRM 
that are not subject to the provisions of paragraph (4) of this section be elevated so that either:  

(i) The lowest floor of the manufactured home is at or above the base flood elevation plus a 
two-foot free-board (design flood elevation), and  

(ii) The manufactured home chassis is supported by reinforced piers or other foundation 
elements of at least equivalent strength that are no less than 60 inches in height above 
grade and be securely anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system to resist 
flotation, collapse, and lateral movement.  

(6) Recreational vehicles. Require that recreational vehicles placed on sites within zones A1—30, AH, and 
AE on the community's FIRM either (i) be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days, or (ii) be 
fully licensed and ready for highway use, or (iii) meet the permit requirements of subsection 30-69(1), 
and the elevation and anchoring requirements for "manufactured homes" in paragraph (4) of this 
section. A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is 
attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has no 
permanently attached additions.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2009-46, 8-10-2009; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

Page 24 of 29



 

 

 

Sec. 30-93. Standards for subdivision proposals. 

(1) All subdivision proposals including the placement of manufactured home parks and subdivisions shall be 
consistent with sections 30-32, 30-33, and 30-34 of this article.  

(2) All proposals for the development of subdivisions including the placement of manufactured home parks and 
subdivisions shall meet floodplain development permit requirements of section 30-68; section 30-69; and the 
provisions of division 3 of this article.  

(3) Base flood elevation data shall be generated for subdivision proposals and other proposed development 
including the placement of manufactured home parks and subdivisions which is greater than 50 lots or five 
acres, whichever is lesser, if not otherwise provided pursuant to section 30-37 or subsection 30-67(8) of this 
article.  

(4) All subdivision proposals including the placement of manufactured home parks and subdivisions shall have 
adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards.  

(5) All subdivision proposals including the placement of manufactured home parks and subdivisions shall have 
public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical and water systems located and constructed to 
minimize or eliminate flood damage.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-94. Standards for areas of shallow flooding (AO/AH zones). 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 30-37, are areas designated as shallow 
flooding. These areas have special flood hazards associated with flood depths of one to three feet where a clearly 
defined channel does not exist, where the path of flooding is unpredictable, and where velocity flow may be 
evident. Such flooding is characterized by ponding or sheet flow; therefore, the following provisions apply:  

(1) All new construction and substantial improvements of residential structures shall have the lowest 
horizontal structural member (excluding pilings and columns) including basement and attendant 
utilities elevated to or above the base flood elevation plus a two-foot free-board (design flood 
elevation) or the highest adjacent grade at least as high as the depth number specified in feet on the 
community's FIRM plus a two-foot free-board (at least four feet if no depth number is specified).  

(2) All new construction and substantial improvements of nonresidential structures [shall];  

(a) Have the lowest floor (including basement) elevated to or above the base flood elevation plus a 
two-foot free-board or the highest adjacent grade at least as high as the depth number specified 
in feet on the community's FIRM plus a two-foot free-board (at least four feet if no depth 
number is specified), or  

(b) Together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities be designed so that below the base 
specified flood depth in an AO Zone plus two feet, or below the base flood elevation plus a two-
foot free-board in an AH Zone, the structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable 
to the passage of water and with structural components having the capability of resisting 
hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads of effects of buoyancy.  

(3) A registered professional engineer or architect shall submit a certification to the floodplain 
administrator that the standards of this section, as proposed in section 30-69, are satisfied.  

(4) Require within zones AH or AO adequate drainage paths around structures on slopes, to guide 
floodwaters around and away from proposed structures.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

Page 25 of 29



 

 

 

Sec. 30-95. Floodways. 

Floodways located within areas of special flood hazard established in section 30-37, are areas designated as 
floodways. Since the floodway is an extremely hazardous area due to the velocity of floodwaters which carry 
debris, potential projectiles and erosion potential, the following provisions shall apply:  

(1) Encroachments are prohibited, including fill, new construction, substantial improvements and other 
development within the adopted regulatory floodway unless it has been demonstrated through 
hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in accordance with standard engineering practice that the 
proposed encroachment would not result in any increase in flood levels within the community during 
the occurrence of the base flood discharge.  

(2) If subsection 30-95(1) above is satisfied, all new construction and substantial improvements shall 
comply with all applicable flood hazard reduction provisions of division 3.  

(3) Under the provisions of 44 CFR Chapter 1, Section 65.12, of the National Flood Insurance Program 
Regulation, a community may permit encroachments within the adopted regulatory floodway that 
would result in an increase in base flood elevations, provided that the community first completes all of 
the provisions required by Section 65.12.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

Sec. 30-96. Coastal high hazard areas. 

Located within the areas of special flood hazard established in section 30-37, are areas designated as coastal 
high hazard areas (zones V1—30, VE, and/or V). These areas have special flood hazards associated with high 
velocity waters from tidal surges and hurricane wave wash; therefore, in addition to meeting all provisions 
outlined in this ordinance, the following provisions must also apply:  

(1) Obtain the elevation (in relation to mean sea level) of the bottom of the lowest structural member of 
the lowest floor (excluding pilings and columns) of all new and substantially improved structures, and 
whether or not such structures contain a basement. The floodplain administrator shall maintain a 
record of all such information.  

(2) All new construction shall be located landward of the reach of mean high tide.  

(3) All new construction and substantial improvements shall be elevated on pilings and columns so that:  

(i) The bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member of the lowest floor (excluding the pilings 
or columns) is elevated to or above the base flood elevation plus a two-foot free-board (design 
flood elevation);  

(ii) The pile or column foundation and structure attached thereto is anchored to resist flotation, 
collapse and lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads acting simultaneously 
on all building components. Water loading values used shall be those associated with the base 
flood. Wind loading values used shall be those required by applicable state or local building 
standards. A registered professional engineer or architect shall develop or review the structural 
design, specifications and plans for the construction, and shall certify that the design and 
methods of construction to be used are in accordance with accepted standards of practice for 
meeting the provisions of subsections (3)(i) and (ii) of this section.  

(4) Provide that all new construction and substantial improvements have the space below the lowest 
horizontal structural member plus two-feet either free of obstruction or constructed with 
nonsupporting breakaway walls, open wood latticework, or insect screening intended to collapse under 
wind and water loads without causing collapse, displacement, or other structural damage to the 
elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation system.  

Page 26 of 29



 

 

 

For the purpose of this section, a breakaway wall shall have a design safe loading resistance of not less 
than ten and no more than 20 pounds per square foot. Use of breakaway walls which exceed a design 
safe loading resistance of 20 pounds per square foot (either by design or when so required by local or 
state codes) may be permitted only if a registered professional engineer or architect certifies that the 
designs proposed meet the following conditions:  

(i) Breakaway wall collapse shall result from a water load less than that which would occur during 
the base flood; and  

(ii) The elevated portion of the building and supporting foundation system shall not be subject to 
collapse, displacement, or other structural damage due to the effects of wind and water loads 
acting simultaneously on all building components (structural and nonstructural). Water loading 
values used shall be those associated with the base flood. Wind loading values used shall be 
those required by applicable state or local building standards. Such enclosed space shall be 
useable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or storage. Such space shall not be used for 
human habitation.  

(5) Prohibit the use of fill for structural support of buildings.  

(6) Prohibit manmade alteration of sand dunes and mangrove stands that increase potential flood 
damage.  

(7) Manufactured homes require that manufactured homes placed or substantially improved within Zone 
V1—30, V, and VE on the community's FIRM on sites (i) outside of a manufactured home park or 
subdivision, (ii) in a new manufactured home park or subdivision, (iii) in an expansion to an existing 
manufactured home park or subdivision, or (iv) in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision 
on which a manufactured home has incurred "substantial damage" as the result of a flood, meet the 
standards of paragraphs (1) through (6) of this section and that manufactured homes placed or 
substantially improved on other sites in an existing manufactured home park or subdivision within 
zones V1—30, V, and VE on the community's FIRM meet the requirements of subsection 30-92(4) of 
this article.  

(8) Recreational vehicles require that recreational vehicles placed on sites within zones V1—30, V, and VE 
on the community's FIRM either (i) be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days, or (ii) be fully 
licensed and ready for highway use, or (iii) meet the requirements in section 30-68 of this article and 
paragraphs (1) through (6) of this section. A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its 
wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security 
devices, and has no permanently attached additions.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007; Ord. No. 2021-403 , 2-8-2021, eff. 3-1-2021) 

 

Secs. 30-97—30-120. Reserved. 

DIVISION 4. PENALTIES FOR NONCOMPLIANCE 

Page 27 of 29



 

 

Sec. 30-121. Penalties for noncompliance. 

No structure or land shall hereafter be constructed, located, extended, converted, or altered without full 
compliance with the terms of this article and other applicable regulations. Violation of the provisions of this article 
by failure to comply with any of its requirements (including violations of conditions and safeguards established in 
connection with conditions) shall constitute a misdemeanor. Any person who violates this article or fails to comply 
with any of its requirements shall upon conviction thereof be fined not more than the maximum allowed by law or 
imprisoned for not more than the maximum number of days allowed by law, or both, for each violation, and in 
addition shall pay all costs and expenses involved in the case. Nothing herein contained shall prevent the City of 
Shoreacres from taking such other lawful action as is necessary to prevent or remedy any violation.  

(Ord. No. 07-04, 5-21-2007) 

 
 
 
Section 2. Should any part, section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase 
contained in this resolution be held to be unconstitutional or of no force and effect, 
such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of this resolution, but 
in all respects said remaining portion shall be and remain in full force and effect.  
 
Section 3. It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
Ordinance was passed was open to the public and that public notice of the time, place 
and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meeting Act, Chapter 
551 of the Texas Government Code. 
 
Section 4. This Ordinance is effective immediately upon its passage and approval.  
 
PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the City of Shoreacres, Texas this the 
11th day of December 2023. 
 
 

  
              

David Jennings, Mayor  

  

ATTEST:  
  

  

              

Elaine Goodman, City Secretary  

Page 28 of 29



 

 

 
 
 

 Aye Nay Not Voting 

Mayor David Jennings     

Mayor Pro Tem Jerome McKown     
Alderperson Felicia Ramos     

Alderperson Paul Greeson           
Alderperson Ron Hoskins     

Alderperson Wes Bell    
 

Page 29 of 29


